
Resources Directorate
DavidDavid  WilcockWilcock
AssistantAssistant  DirectorDirector  (Legal,(Legal,  GovernanceGovernance  &&  
Workforce)Workforce)

Governance  & Committee Services
Floor 2, Number One Riverside, Smith Street,
Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Phone: 01706 647474
Website: www.rochdale.gov.uk 

To:  All Members of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board

Enquiries to: Peter Thompson
e-mail:              peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk 
Telephone: 01706 924715
Date: 21st November 2016

Dear Councillor/Sir/Madam,

Health and Wellbeing Board

You are requested to attend a meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board to be 
held in the Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, Number One 
Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU on Tuesday, 29th November 
2016 starting at 2.00pm.

The agenda and supporting papers are attached. 

If you require advice on any agenda item involving a possible Declaration of 
Interest which could affect your right to speak and/or vote, please refer to the 
Code of Conduct or contact the Monitoring Officer or staff in the Governance and 
Committee Services Team at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting. 

Yours Faithfully

David Wilcock
Assistant Director (Legal, Governance & Workforce)

Health and Wellbeing Board Membership 2016/17
Councillor Iftikhar Ahmed
Rob Bellingham
Councillor Ashley Dearnley
Sheila Downey
Dr Chris Duffy (Vice Chair)
Councillor Janet Emsley (Chair)
Andrea Fallon
Gail Hopper
Dr Musharraf Hussain
Jane Jackson
Councillor Donna Martin E
Steve Rumbelow
Chief Superintendent Chris Sykes
Michelle Warburton
Simon Wootton

Public Document Pack

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/
mailto:peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk


Rochdale Borough Council

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

Tuesday, 29th November 2016 at 2.00 pm

Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, Council Offices, Number One 
Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale

AGENDA

Apologies for Absence
1.  Declarations of Interest 1 - 3

Members must indicate at this stage any items on the agenda in 
which they must declare an interest.  Members must verbally give 
notice of their interest at the meeting and complete the form attached 
with this agenda.  

2.  Minutes - Health and Wellbeing Board 4 - 7

Minutes of the meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board held 27th 
September 2016.

3.  Minutes -  Shadow Integrated Commissioning Board 8 - 13

To note the Minutes of the meetings of the Shadow Integrated 
Commissioning Board held on 13th September 2016, 11th October 
2016 and 8th November 2016.

4.  Fire Authority - 'Offer' to Rochdale Borough 

Representatives of the Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue 
Authority to deliver a presentation.

5.  Board Development - Verbal Update 

6.  Medical Examiners 14 - 18

Assistant Director (Information, Customers & Communities).

7.  Health Protection - Update 

Verbal update – for information.

8.  Exclusion of Press and Public 

To consider excluding the press and public from the meeting during 
consideration of the following item of business in accordance with the 
provisions of Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, as 
amended.

9.  Locality Plan Report 19 - 24

Report attached for information.



P
age 1

A
genda Item

 1



DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED BY THE COUNCIL ON 25TH JULY 2012, MEMBERS ARE REQUIRED TO DECLARE DISCLOSABLE 
PECUNIARY INTERESTS, PERSONAL INTERESTS AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS (LISTED ON THEIR REGISTER OF INTERESTS).

MEMBERS SHOULD REFER TO THE CODE OF CONDUCT AND/OR THE MONITORING OFFICER AND/OR THEIR DECLARATION FOR FURTHER GUIDANCE

MEETING AND DATE

…………………………….

Agenda item

Indicate either
 Discloseable Pecuniary Interest OR
 Personal Interest OR
 Personal and Prejudicial interest

Nature of Interest

Signed…………………………………………………………………………………………        Please print name…………………………………………………………………………………………..

IF A MEMBER HAS A DISCLOSEABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST THAT HAS NOT BEEN INCLUDED ON THEIR REGISTER SUBMISSION, THEY ARE REQUIRED BY 
LAW TO UPDATE THEIR REGISTER ENTRY WITHIN 28 DAYS.  FAILURE TO PROVIDE PROPER NOTIFICATION IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE.

THIS FORM, INCLUDING ‘NIL’ ENTRIES, MUST BE GIVEN TO THE GOVERNANCE AND COMMITTEE OFFICER NO LATER THAN AT THE END OF THE MEETING

P
age 2



Summary of discloseable pecuniary interests, personal interests and prejudicial interests.

Disclosable pecuniary interests
A ‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ is an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are aware of your 
partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in the table below.  "Partner" means a spouse or civil 
partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or a person with whom you are 
living as if you are civil partners.

Subject Description
Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit 
or gain

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the 
Council) made or provided within the 12 month period prior to notification 
of the interest in respect of any expenses incurred by you in carrying out 
duties as a member, or towards your election expenses.  

Contracts Any contract made between you or your partner (or a body in which you or 
your partner has a beneficial interest) and the Council - 
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed: and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Rochdale 
Metropolitan Borough Council.

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the 
Borough for a month or longer.

Corporate Tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) - 
(a) the landlord is the Council: and
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial 
interest.

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where -
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the 
area of the Borough; and
(b) either –
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that class.

Personal Interests
You have a personal interest in any business of the authority where it relates to or is likely to affect - 
(a) any body of which you are in a position of general control or management and to which you are 

appointed or nominated by your authority;
(b)  any body -

(i) exercising functions of a public nature;
(ii) directed to charitable purposes; or
(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy 

(including any political party or trade union), 
of which you are in a position of general control or management;
(c) the interests of any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated 

value of at least £25.

Prejudicial Interests
Where you have a personal interest you also have a prejudicial interest in that business where the 
interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably 
regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest and where 
that business -
(a) Affects your financial position or the financial position of a person or body described above; or
 (b) Relates to the determining of any approval, consent, licence, permission or registration in relation 

to you or any person or body described above.

MEMBERS ARE ADVISED TO REFER TO THE FULL DESCRIPTIONS CONTAINED IN THE
COUNCIL’S CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED ON 25TH JULY 2012.

Page 3



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

MINUTES OF MEETING
Tuesday 27th September 2016

PRESENT:  Councillor Janet Emsley (Chair); Councillor Martin, S. Downey, G. 
Hopper, A. Fallon (Rochdale Borough Council), Dr C. Duffy (Heywood, Middleton and 
Rochdale Clinical Commissioning Group) and J. Jackson (Healthwatch)

OFFICERS:  W. Meston and R. Fletcher (Public Health and Wellbeing Directorate), 
A. Nikolaou (Economy Directorate) and A. James (Resources Directorate) (Rochdale 
Borough Council)

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE:  S. Lord (Xenzone), K. Thomas (Rochdale Connections 
Trust), D. Lawrence and S. Bridgen (Rochdale Housing Initiative)

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE: Councillor Iftikhar Ahmed, Councillor Dearnley, 
Hussain, Rumbelow and Wootton (Heywood, Middleton and Rochdale Clinical 
Commissioning Group)

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
13 There were no declarations of interest.

MINUTES - HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
14 DECIDED – that subject to the list of those in attendance at the meeting 
being amended, that the minutes of the meeting of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board held on 26th July 2016 be approved as a correct record.

MINUTES -  SHADOW INTEGRATED COMMISSIONING BOARD
15 DECIDED – that the minutes of the meetings of the Shadow Integrated 
Commissioning Board held on 14th June 2016, 12th July 2016 and 9th August 
2016 be noted.

KOOTH ONLINE COUNSELLING AND SUPPORT FOR YOUNG PEOPLE
16 The Board received a presentation from Stephanie Lord, Integration and 
Participation Worker from Xenzone, about Kooth, an online counselling and support 
service for young people.

The service was accessed directly by young people (no referral was needed), it was 
text based, offered a range of therapeutic tools and activities and was open 365 days 
a year with an out of hours service operating on weekdays and at weekends.

Young people had access to online counsellors on a triage basis which could if 
required, lead to further online counselling sessions.

Everything on the Kooth site was moderated and confidential no personal details or 
real names could be identified. All the counsellors were trained, qualified and 
experienced in working with young people. If it was needed, young people would also 
be encouraged to access face to face services as well as online support and 
guidance.

DECIDED – that the presentation relating to the Kooth online counselling and 
support service for young people be noted.

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



STRENGTH TO CHANGE PROJECT
17 The Board received a presentation from Kathy Thomas, Chief Executive of 
the Rochdale Connections Trust about the Strength to Change programme. 

The Strength to Change Programme is a 12 month programme specifically aimed at 
male perpetrators of domestic violence.

The programme explores where the behaviour has evolved from and provides 
strategies and encouragement to alter and improve the situation. Individuals are 
required to self-refer to the programme in order to demonstrate their commitment to 
making positive changes.

DECIDED – that the presentation relating to the Strength to Change Programme 
be noted.

HEALTHY ROCHDALE HOMES
18 The Board received a presentation from Darryl Lawrence and Sallie Bridgen 
from the Rochdale Housing Initiative which provided an overview of the Healthy 
Rochdale Homes project.

The project was led by the Strategic Housing Partnership, through the Rochdale 
Housing Initiative. The project encompassed a unique Collaboration Agreement with 
a commitment to working co-operatively to deliver services that prevent ill health, 
support recovery, and generate savings to the health system. 

The Healthy Homes project contributes to the 5 Ways to Wellbeing Action Plan, the 
Healthier Lives in Rochdale Strategy and the Premature Mortality Project.

The presentation provided examples of areas of work and case studies that the 
project was involved with including:-

 Step up Step Down Project - aimed at reducing hospital admission, delayed 
discharge and inappropriate use of care home accommodation due to 
housing suitability;

 Housing Help on Prescription - the role housing can play in reaching the 
missing 1000’s and offering a housing based holistic social 
prescribing/community connector service;

 Advice and Assistance Pilot – a one stop shop triage service for 
professionals;

DECIDED – that the presentation relating to the Healthy Rochdale Homes 
project be noted.

ROCHDALE SUICIDE AND SELF HARM PREVENTION STRATEGY
19 The Board considered the report of the Director of Public Health and 
Wellbeing which presented the updated Rochdale Suicide and Self Harm Prevention 
Strategy which was intended to build on the work of the previous strategy, which 
provided a broad and coherent approach to suicide prevention that recognises the 
contributions that can be made across all sectors of society.

The aim of the strategy is to provide a framework for reducing suicides in the 
Rochdale Borough in line with national evidence and local priorities.  By combining 
local information and the national evidence base, seven key areas for action had 
been identified to support delivery of local objectives.

Page 5



 Reduce the risk of suicide in key high-risk groups including men, people who 
self-harm, and those in contact with mental health services;

 Tailor approaches to improve mental health in specific groups; 
 Reduce access to the means of suicide; 
 Provide better information and support to those bereaved or affected by 

suicide;
 Support the media in delivering sensitive approaches to suicide and suicidal 

behaviour;
 Support research and data collection;
 To promote wellbeing and increase resilience building upon the Five Ways to 

Wellbeing programme.
It was suggested that when the Strategy was next being reviewed that the needs of 
those who were supporting people who had attempted suicide should be included in 
the Strategy.

DECIDED – that the updated Rochdale Suicide and Self Harm Prevention 
Strategy be approved and adopted.

PLACED BASED INTEGRATED WORKING PHASE 2 - VERBAL UPDATE
20 The Board received an update on Phase Two of the Place Based Integrated 
Working Project from Anne Nikolaou from the Council’s Economy Directorate.

The Board were informed that after a successful pilot scheme in the Kirkholt area of 
Rochdale, that it was intended to roll out Phase 2 of the Placed Based Integrated 
Working project to the College Bank and Lower Falinge area of Rochdale.

It was commented that as there were benefits for all partner organisations involved in 
the pilot, that financial resources ought to come from across the partnership.

DECIDED – that the update on Phase 2 of the Place Based Integrated Working 
Project be noted.

LOCALITY PLAN - VERBAL UPDATE
21 The Board were informed by Sheila Downey, Director of Adult Care Services 
that the final submission date for the Locality Plan was expected to be in early 2017 
and that a more detailed report on the development of the Plan and its associated 
work streams would be submitted to the next meeting of the Board in November 
2016.

DECIDED – that the update on the Locality Plan be noted.

BOARD DEVELOPMENT - VERBAL UPDATE
22 The Board received a presentation from Andrea Fallon, Director of Public 
Health and Wellbeing following on from the Board Development Session in June 
2016 which had set out to review the purpose of the Board, what the Board has been 
doing to date, how the Board fits in the 2016 landscape (the challenge) and how the 
structure and function of the Board might need to change in response to the 
challenge (including Board membership).

Suggestions for how the Board could develop further in future included:-
 Stronger Joint Strategic Needs Assessment updates which focus on specific 

areas identified by Board rather than general updates; 
 A refreshed Annual Work Plan that connects to other Borough work streams; 

Page 6



 Increased officer support, and more frequent planning sessions between 
Board meetings.

 Use of the Annual Assembly mechanism to ensure accountability to partners, 
communities and stakeholders; 

 Update the Board Membership to reflect the stronger partnership approaches 
required in order to deliver the Locality Plan.

 Balance between more widely inclusive membership and ability to ensure 
focused decision making and challenge and to complement other Boards.

It was agreed that membership should be a main agenda item at the next meeting of 
the Board in November in order to have a full discussion with as many Board 
Members present as possible.

DECIDED – (1) the presentation on Board Development be noted;
(2) that membership be a main agenda item for discussion at the next 

meeting of the Board in November.

Page 7



SHADOW INTEGRATED COMMISSIONING BOARD

MINUTES OF MEETING
Tuesday, 13 September 2016

PRESENT: HMR CCG - Dr Chris Duffy (Clinical Chair) (in the Chair); Dr Bodrul Alam 
(Clinical Lead), Sam Evans (Chief Finance Officer), Dr Lynn Hampson (Clinical 
Lead), Ian Mello (Director of Commissioning and Provider Management), Simon 
Wootton (Chief Officer); RBC –Dianne David (Assistant Director of Adult Care), 
Councillor Janet Emsley (Portfolio Holder for Culture, Health and Wellbeing), Gail 
Hopper (Director of Children’s Services), Pauline Kane (Director of Resources) 

OFFICERS: RBC – Steve Rumbelow (Chief Executive), Wendy Meston (Public 
Health Directorate) and Mark Hardman (RBC Resources Directorate)

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: Councillor Sheerin (Assistant to the Portfolio Holder for 
Adult Services)

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE: RBC - Councillor Iftikhar Ahmed (Portfolio Holder for 
Adult Services), Sheila Downey (Director of Adult Care), Andrea Fallon (Director of 
Public Health and Wellbeing) and Councillor Donna Martin (Portfolio Holder for 
Children's Services).

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
15 There were no declarations of interest.

MINUTES
16 DECIDED – That the minutes of the meeting of the Shadow Integrated 
Commissioning Board held on 9th August 2016 be approved as a correct 
record.

BETTER CARE FUND - PERFORMANCE REPORT
17 The Director of Adult Care provided performance information on the Better 
Care Fund (BCF) metrics for Quarter 1 2016/17 (April – June 2016); presented the 
BCF Quarter 1 (April – June 2016) submission that was submitted to NHS England 
on 9th September for endorsement; and advising on the changes to the BCF national 
conditions and on progress made against these conditions in 2016/17. 

The recommendations were presented as it was a requirement of the BCF to provide 
quarterly submissions to NHS England on performance against the BCF metrics, with 
the Board monitoring the Borough’s performance against these metrics and 
recommending action where targets are not being met. The Board had also been 
delegated the responsibility to review and approve the quarterly submissions to NHS 
England. In noting that BCF submission requirements did not always align with 
meetings of the Board, an alternate approval mechanism was requested.

DECIDED – That (1) the Better Care Fund (BCF) Quarter 1 BCF metrics 
performance report, attached at Appendix 1 to the submitted report, be noted; 

(2)  the BCF Quarter 1 (April – June 2016) submission to NHS England,  
attached as appendix 2 to the submitted report, be endorsed;

(3) performance reports be submitted to this Board on a bi-monthly 
basis, with the quarterly submissions to NHS England to be signed off and 
submitted by the Director of Adult Care following consultation with the Chair 

Page 8

Agenda Item 3



and Vice Chair of this Board in the event of timescales not permitting prior 
submission to this Board.
Eligible for call-in: No

BETTER CARE FUND - BUDGET MONITORING
18 The Director of Resources updated the Board on the projected position of the 
Better Care Fund (BCF) for the financial year 2016/17 as at July period end.

DECIDED – That (1) the projected revenue and capital position for the BCF in 
2016/17 be noted;

(2) the delay in implementation of the Springhill capital scheme detailed 
in table 2 within the submitted report, funding of which will require a carry 
forward into 2017/18 that will be subject to approval by the Council’s Cabinet, 
be noted.
Eligible for call-in: No

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC
19 DECIDED – That the public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following item of business since it is likely that, in view of 
the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings, if 
members of the public were present there would be disclosure to them of 
exempt information, namely information relating to the business or financial 
affairs of any particular person (including the person holding that information).

UPDATE ON REMODELLING OF SPRINGHILL RESOURCE CENTRE INTO A 
DEMENTIA COMMUNITY SERVICE MODEL
20 The Director of Adult Care provided background information on the 
development of the Dementia Community Service model at Springhill Resource 
Centre. 

DECIDED – That the report be noted.
Eligible for call-in: No

Page 9



SHADOW INTEGRATED COMMISSIONING BOARD

MINUTES OF MEETING
Tuesday, 11 October 2016

PRESENT: HMR CCG - Dr Chris Duffy (Clinical Chair) (in the Chair); Dr Bodrul Alam 
(Clinical Lead), Sam Evans (Chief Finance Officer), Dr Lynn Hampson (Clinical 
Lead), Ian Mello (Director of Commissioning and Provider Management), Simon 
Wootton (Chief Officer); RBC – Councillor Iftikhar Ahmed (Portfolio Holder for Adult 
Services), Sheila Downey (Director of Adult Care), Councillor Janet Emsley (Portfolio 
Holder for Culture, Health and Wellbeing), Andrea Fallon (Director of Public Health 
and Wellbeing) and Julie Murphy (Head of Finance)

OFFICERS: RBC – Mark Hardman (RBC Resources Directorate)

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE: RBC - Gail Hopper (Director of Children’s Services), 
Pauline Kane (Director of Resources) and Councillor Donna Martin (Portfolio Holder 
for Children's Services).
    

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
21 There were no declarations of interest.

MINUTES
22 DECIDED – That, subject to the deletion of the word ‘alternate’ and it’s 
substitution by the word ‘alternative’ in the final sentence of the second 
paragraph of the preamble to Minute 17 (Better Care Fund – Performance 
Report),  the minutes of the meeting of the Shadow Integrated Commissioning 
Board held on 13th September 2016 be approved as a correct record.

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC
23 DECIDED – That the public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following item of business since it is likely that, in view of 
the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings, if 
members of the public were present there would be disclosure to them of 
exempt information, namely information relating to the business or financial 
affairs of any particular person (including the person holding that information).

CARERS COMMISSIONING
24 The Board considered a report of the Director of Adult Care providing an 
update on Carers’ Commissioning, including the proposed financial envelope for 
commissioning the new carers’ universal offer.  The Board were further asked to 
consider whether to carry out further needs assessment and development work 
in relation to the commissioning of an urgent care night time offer that could 
prevent carer breakdown and support people to maintain independent living for 
as long as possible as part of the Borough’s carers’ offer. 

The recommendation was presented following consideration of a benchmarking 
exercise in relation to spend on carers’ services across Greater Manchester, and 
reconsideration of the financial envelope to recommission the carers’ universal 
offer. The proposed further needs assessment and development work in relation 
to the commissioning of an urgent care night time offer could lead to an 
integrated night time service to prevent carer breakdown and support people to 
remain living in the community for longer.

Page 10



Alternatives considered: The differing approaches to the financial envelope for 
commissioning the new carers’ universal offer were considered within the 
submitted report.  

DECIDED – That (1) the figure for the commissioning of the carers’ 
universal offer, as shown at paragraph 2 to the submitted report, be 
approved;

(2) a further needs assessment and development work be carried 
out in relation to the commissioning of an urgent care night time offer as 
part of the Borough’s carers’ offer. 
Eligible for call-in: Yes

 

Page 11



SHADOW INTEGRATED COMMISSIONING BOARD

MINUTES OF MEETING
Tuesday, 8 November 2016

PRESENT:  HMR CCG - Dr Chris Duffy (Clinical Chair) (in the Chair); Dr Bodrul Alam 
(Clinical Lead), Sam Evans (Chief Finance Officer), Dr Lynn Hampson (Clinical 
Lead); RBC - Sheila Downey (Director of Adult Care), Councillor Janet Emsley 
(Portfolio Holder for Culture, Health and Wellbeing), Gail Hopper (Director of 
Children’s Services) and Pauline Kane (Director of Resources) 

OFFICERS:  RBC - Steve Rumbelow (Chief Executive), Mark Hardman and Julie 
Murphy (Resources Directorate), and Shirley Henderson and Jeanette Leach (Adult 
Care Directorate)

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE: HMR CCG - Ian Mello (Director of Commissioning 
and Provider Management) and Simon Wootton (Chief Officer); RBC – Councillor 
Iftikhar Ahmed (Portfolio Holder for Adult Services), Andrea Fallon (Director of Public 
Health and Wellbeing) and Councillor Donna Martin (Portfolio Holder for Children's 
Services).

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
25 There were no declarations of interest.

MINUTES
26 DECIDED – That the minutes of the meeting of the Shadow Integrated 
Commissioning Board held on 11th October 2016 be approved as a correct 
record.

BETTER CARE FUND - 2016/17 SECOND QUARTER MONITORING REPORT
27 The Board gave consideration to a report of the Director of Resources 
providing an update on the projected position of the Better Care Fund (BCF) for the 
financial year 2016/17 as at September period end.

The recommendations were presented as regular monitoring of the BCF budget is a 
requirement of the Section 75 agreement that was agreed at the meetings of the 
Board held in June 2016.  The monitoring would form the basis of the financial 
information to be submitted to NHS England as part of the regulatory returns 
required. 

Alternatives considered:  None.

DECIDED – That (1) the latest projected position for the Better Care Fund in 
2016/17, which will be included in the second quarter return to be made to NHS 
England on 25th November 2016, be noted;

(2) the intention to submit a separate report to the December Board 
meeting on progress made regarding the Reviews and actions being 
undertaken within 2016/17 by the Better Care Fund Commissioners, as detailed  
din in paragraph 4.4 to the submitted report, be noted.
Eligible for call-in: No

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC
28 DECIDED – That the public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following item of business since it is likely that, in view of 

Page 12



the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings, if 
members of the public were present there would be disclosure to them of 
exempt information, namely information relating to the business or financial 
affairs of any particular person (including the person holding that information).

INTEGRATED COMMUNITY EQUIPMENT STORE
29 The Board considered a report of the Director of Adult Care providing 
background information on the equipment service and contractual arrangements; 
information on current financial position and activity in relation to the equipment 
contract; and options for consideration in respect of the re-procurement of the 
equipment service. 

The recommendations within the report were presented as there was a need to 
re-procure the existing contract which would become time expired in 2017.  In 
addition to the procurement exercise, there were issues to consider around 
service delivery and treatment of budgets.

Alternatives considered – An assessment of the risks and issues relating to the 
procurement process was presented within paragraph 6 to the submitted report 
that indicated a preferred option.  A proposed budget re-alignment would simplify 
and improve the budget management and monitoring of the equipment service.

DECIDED – That (1) the consideration of the options for the procurement of 
the equipment service be noted, and option 2 highlighted within paragraph 
6 to the submitted report, be approved on the basis as shown in paragraph 
2.1;

(2) further engagement with Adult Care regarding the inclusion of 
the provision of minor adaptations in the equipment service specification 
be supported;

(3) the addition of the local authority adult’s equipment budget as 
indicated at Table 1 (2016/17 forecast) to the submitted report be approved;

(4) discussions be held with Pennine Acute Hospital Trust about 
delegation of the budget for the adults’ specialist health equipment (beds, 
mattresses etc.) as indicated at paragraph 2.4 to the submitted report.
Eligible for call-in: Yes

Page 13



 

Death Certification Reforms: New Duty on Local Authorities

This document provides an overview of the death certification reforms for Local Authority Chief 
Executives.   Additional information is provided in supporting notes at the end of the document. 

Background

The Department of Health is working with a wide range of organisations and groups to 
reform the process of death certification. These reforms, enabled by the Coroners and 
Justice Act 2009, will introduce a unified system of scrutiny by independent medical 
examiners of all deaths in England and Wales that do not require investigation by a coroner 
(i.e. similar for burials and cremations). 1 The reforms, which are part of the Government’s 
response to the Shipman Inquiry, will strengthen safeguards for the public, make the 
process of death certification simpler and more open for the bereaved and improve the 
quality of mortality data. 2 Renewed calls for medical examiners were made by the Francis 
Inquiry into Mid Staffordshire and Bill Kirkup’s Inquiry into Morecambe Bay.

Local authorities will be responsible for implementation and delivery of the Medical 
Examiner Service in England therefore it is important that local authority chief executives 
are aware of the issues being addressed, which may help to inform your thinking in 
anticipation of implementation and seeks your support by completing the attached survey 
and returning it to DeathCertification@dh.gsi.gov.uk.

In addition, we would like your comments on a draft checklist that has been created by local 
government advisers, to support local authorities to develop a plan to establish their local 
medical examiner services.

Legislative framework

The Coroners and Justice Act 2009 sets out the legal basis for a new system of death 
certification in England and Wales.  With the abolition of Primary Care Trusts (PCTs) in 
April 2013, the Health and Social Care Act 2012 transferred responsibility for establishing 
the medical examiner service from PCTs to Local Authorities (LAs) in England and Local 
Health Boards (LHBs) in Wales.

Page 14

Agenda Item 6

mailto:DeathCertification@dh.gsi.gov.uk


Death Certification Reforms: New Duty for Local Authorities

Implementation resource sites

Piloting of the local medical examiner process in Sheffield, Gloucestershire, Powys, Mid 
Essex, Brighton & Hove, Leicester Faith Community, and Inner North London has 
demonstrated that the local medical examiner service can work well in both urban and rural 
settings without causing delays to funeral arrangements.   Former pilots in Sheffield and 
Gloucester now act as implementation resource sites with working models of the local 
medical examiner service to support local authorities with their own implementation.  Local 
authorities can get in touch with the sites to learn about the medical examiner system by 
contacting either Daisy Shale (Daisy.Shale@sth.nhs.uk) at Sheffield or Kathryn Griffin 
(Kathryn.Griffin@glos.nhs.uk) at Gloucester.

Feedback from the pilots was used to inform the recent consultation and draft regulations 
and will be used in guidance to recommend ways that local authorities can address 
transitional issues in implementing the new process.

Funding arrangements

The Government is proposing to fund scrutiny by medical examiners on a cost-recovery 
basis through a statutory fee chargeable for all deaths that are not investigated by a 
coroner.3  This statutory fee, collected locally, would replace and make more effective use 
of the existing fee charged by doctors for the completion of cremation forms which will be 
removed by the new process.4  (These fees are around £184 for each cremation where 
applicable).

Operational requirements for running the service

Local authorities will be able to use service models that are appropriate for their area; these 
models may include direct provision of a standalone function, commissioning the service 
from a healthcare provider that can assure independence, integration with existing related 
services and collaboration with neighbouring authorities to provide a combined service.

All medical examiners will be required to have at least 5 years post-qualification experience, 
a current licence to practice and relevant expertise based on the completion of prescribed 
e-Learning and face-to-face training.5  Training for medical examiners has been developed 
and will be delivered through a ‘blended approach’ of e-learning supported by face-to-face 
training.  In most areas, medical examiners will need to be supported by officers or people 
providing an officer function.6  

It is anticipated that most medical examiners will be appointed on a part-time basis so that 
they can maintain their licence to practice through their other clinical duties and keep up to 
date more generally with clinical developments.7  

Page 15

mailto:Daisy.Shale@sth.nhs.uk
mailto:Kathryn.Griffin@glos.nhs.uk


Death Certification Reforms: New Duty for Local Authorities

The cost of providing (or commissioning) the services needed in each area will be 
recovered from the proposed statutory fee and work is currently being carried out - with 
input from local authority representatives - to ensure that the level of fee set takes account 
of the costs of alternative service models and other local considerations.8 

The consultation draft Impact Assessment reflected our initial assessment 
(https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/506775/Imp
act_assessment_A.pdf), which is currently being refined in light of the consultation, is 
subject to potentially significant change and therefore will not reflect the final position.

Recent Progress - Consultation

A fourteen week consultation in England on the policy and draft regulations for introducing 
medical examiners in England ended on 15th June. Respondents widely welcomed 
introducing medical examiners into the death certification process.   Early indications show 
that the main theme emerging from the consultation concerned the level of the fee and 
whether it would sufficiently cover the costs of medical examiner service. Some of the 
responses have helpfully provided local evidence which our analysts can use to update 
assumptions and re-estimate the fee. We aim to publish a summary of responses to the 
consultation later in the year.  

The death certification draft regulations were published with the consultation; and, subject 
to Parliamentary passage, will be laid in Parliament around March 2017 with an anticipated 
commencement date of April 2018.  The extended period between introduction and 
commencement is intended to provide time for local authorities to establish a local medical 
examiner’s service for their area.   

Local government advisors’ checklist

Local government advisers have been working on a checklist to support local authorities to 
develop a local plan to establish their local medical examiner services. 

Please send us any comments about the draft checklist particularly if there are any gaps 
that need to be addressed to the mailbox DeathCertification@dh.gsi.gov.uk.

Department of Health 
Death Certification Programme
October 2016
Mailbox: deathcertification@dh.gsi.gov.uk
Phone: 0113 254 5813 or 0113 2545174

Page 16

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/506775/Impact_assessment_A.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/506775/Impact_assessment_A.pdf
mailto:DeathCertification@dh.gsi.gov.uk
mailto:deathcertification@dh.gsi.gov.uk


Death Certification Reforms: New Duty for Local Authorities

Supporting Notes

The following notes are referenced in the summary provided above.  If you have any questions, comments or 
would like to discuss any aspect of the Death Certification Programme please contact the Programme Team 
at deathcertification@dh.gsi.gov.uk.

1 Deaths that are “investigated” are those where a coroner’s post-mortem examination is carried out and / 
or inquest is held because a coroner has reason to suspect that the deceased died a violent or unnatural 
death, the cause of death is unknown, or the deceased died while in custody or otherwise in state 
detention. Approximately 20% of deaths in England and Wales currently require investigation. 

2 It is generally accepted that the causes of death certified by a significant proportion of doctors are not 
sufficiently precise for epidemiological purposes and that many medical certificates of cause of death 
(MCCDs) are not completed fully and legibly. This view is based on published audits of medical 
certificates of causes of death (MCCDs) or of their counterfoils and feedback from local registration 
services and it is supported by analyses carried out on data collected by the areas piloting the death 
certification reforms. Whilst improved training for doctors in certification of death has some impact on the 
quality of causes of deaths and certificates, it is not sufficient and is too far removed from the specifics of 
each case to achieve the aims of the reforms. 

3 The Death Certification Programme acknowledges that concerns have been raised about the 
requirement for the proposed statutory fee.  These concerns, outlined below, will be kept under review.  
However, at the current time, the fee needs to remain as the preferred option for funding the new service; 
the key reasons for this being that it replaces (and extends) an existing fee that is largely ineffective and 
that in the current economic climate there is unlikely to be any viable alternative. 

Concern Response / Action 

Risk that a single standard fee will not 
enable cost-recovery in areas with 
different requirements and cost-
structures.

Consideration of alternative options for structuring the fee to 
allow some local flexibility and / or recovery over a multiple 
year period.

Reputational risk to local authorities – 
particularly if the fee needs to include a 
variable local element.

Further discussion of concern and clear communication of 
purpose and benefits of reforms.

Local collection of the fee will create 
procedural difficulties and incur costs.

Alternative options identified and assessed for use by local 
authorities in making arrangements and estimating costs 
appropriate for their service model.

It is unclear what action needs to be 
taken if the fee is not paid.

Further discussion of concern – particularly in relation to 
timing / arrangements for payment of fee where it is 
expected to be covered by a Funeral Grant from the Social 
Fund. 

4 The reforms to the process of death certification will include removal of cremation forms 4, 5 and 10.   
Procedures to ensure that crematoria are advised about the removal of any implants are currently being 
clarified and are currently expected to be included in guidance on the release of the deceased. 

5 The Royal College of Pathologists has been nominated by the Academy of Medical Royal Colleges to act 

Page 17

mailto:deathcertification@dh.gsi.gov.uk


Death Certification Reforms: New Duty for Local Authorities

Supporting notes continued

as ‘lead college’ for eLearning and face-to-face training of medical examiners; however, medical 
examiners do not need to be pathologists and are likely to come from a wide range of speciality areas.  
The eLearning has been developed in collaboration with eLearning for Healthcare and current materials 
are available at www.e-lfh.org.uk/medical_examiner for use by doctors and others that are interested in 
the role of medical examiner or role / function of the medical examiner’s officer; introductory materials 
may also be of interest to others who want to learn more about the new process.   Access to the 
materials requires enrolment.   

6 The Death Certification Programme has worked with the Bereavement Services Association (BSA), 
Coroner’s Officers Association (COA) and Association of Anatomical Pathology Technicians (AAPT) to 
prepare an Outline Specification for the Provision of the Medical Examiner’s Officer Function.  This 
outline specification will be provided to local authorities as guidance for the selection / recruitment of 
medical examiner’s officers or people in a related service that provide this function. 

7 It is anticipated that each area / service would have a lead medical examiner and that one lead examiner 
in each region would represent colleagues in discussions at a national level.  

8 The Death Certification Programme is working on service models and associated costs and issues with 
the Local Government Association and senior managers from local registration services in 
Cambridgeshire, Gloucestershire, Hampshire, Kent, Lancashire, Southwark, Lincolnshire, Oxfordshire 
and Solihull that represent their regions on the Local Registration Services National Panel. 

Page 18

http://www.e-lfh.org.uk/medical_examiner


Document is Restricted

Page 19

Agenda Item 9
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	1 Declarations of Interest
	Summary OF interests

	2 Minutes - Health and Wellbeing Board
	3 Minutes -  Shadow Integrated Commissioning Board
	Shadow ICB - 11-10-16
	Shadow ICB - 8-11-16

	6 Medical Examiners
	9 Locality Plan Report

